IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA

DEANGELO R. CARROLL, Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA, Respondent.

No. 64757

Electronically Filed Dec 04 2014 08:43 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal

From the Eighth Judicial District Court Clark County The Honorable Valerie Adair, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MARIO D. VALENCIA Nevada Bar No. 6154 1055 Whitney Ranch Dr., Ste. 220 Henderson, NV 89014 (702) 940-2222 Counsel for Deangelo R. Carroll

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRS 177.015(3). This is Deangelo R. Carroll's (Deangelo) direct appeal from the verdict and final judgment in a criminal case.

This was a death penalty case in the district court. The jury's verdict, finding Deangelo guilty of conspiracy to commit murder and murder in the first-degree with use of a deadly weapon, was entered May 25, 2010. 9 AA 2000–01. The jury's verdict, imposing a sentence of *life* in prison with the possibility of parole after 40 years served, was entered June 4, 2010. 11 AA 2408–12. The judgment of conviction was entered September 8, 2010, and an amended judgment was entered March 23, 2011. 11 AA 2419–20, 2432–33.

Deangelo was originally deprived of his right to a direct appeal through ineffective assistance of counsel. See Order, Case No. 63115 (Nev. July 23, 2013). However, the post-conviction petition in which this

¹ "AA" stand for Appellant's Appendix. The number before and after "AA" represents the volume number and the page number cited in the appendix. For example, the above citation to "9 AA 2000–01" means Volume 9 of Appellant's Appendix at pages 2000–01.

Deangelo's first-restored appeal so the district court could determine whether Deangelo had good cause for the late post-conviction petition.

Id. The district found he did and ordered the district court clerk to file a notice of appeal under NRAP 4(c)(1)(B)(iii). 11 AA 2434–40. On January 6, 2014, the clerk did so. 11 AA 2441.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Was Deangelo's statement rendered involuntary because he was promised that he would not go to jail if he told the truth?
- B. Was Deangelo's statement taken in violation of *Miranda* because he was interrogated in a small room at the homicide office for at least two and half hours and gave a complete confession before he was advised of his rights?
- C. Were the recordings Deangelo helped the police make erroneously admitted against him because his own statements were not admissions, and the statements of others were not in furtherance of the charged conspiracy?
- D. Was there insufficient evidence to support Deangelo's conviction for conspiracy to commit murder and first-degree murder when the State presented no evidence that Deangelo intended for the victim to be killed or that he lied in wait to harm him?
- E. Was there insufficient evidence to support the deadly-weapon enhancement when the State presented no evidence that Deangelo knew a gun would be used?
- F. Were the errors in Deangelo's trial so numerous and significant that, even if they could be found harmless on their own, together they combined to deprive Deangelo of a fair trial?

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the case

This is Deangelo's direct appeal from the verdict and final judgment in a criminal case.

B. The course of the proceedings

On May 31, 2005, Deangelo was charged by criminal complaint with conspiracy to commit murder and murder with a deadly weapon. 1 AA 140–42.

His preliminary hearing was scheduled for June 13, 2005. 1 AA 1. At that time, Deangelo waived his right to a preliminary hearing. 1 AA 3–4.

On June 20, 2005, Deangelo was charged by Information with conspiracy to commit murder and murder with a deadly weapon. 1 AA 155–56.

On July 6, 2005, the State filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty against Deangelo. 1 AA 158.

Deangelo eventually sought review of the State's notice via writ in this court. See Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 50576. After this Court granted the writ in part, see Order Granting Petition, Case No. 50576 (Nev. Sep. 24, 2008), the State filed an amended notice of intent to seek the death penalty on October 20, 2008. 2 AA 382.

On April 30, 2010, Deangelo filed a motion to suppress his statement to the homicide detectives in this case. 3 AA 493. On May 11, 2010, the district court held a hearing on the motion — but not an evidentiary hearing. 3 AA 646. The court denied the motion later that same day in a minute order. 3 AA 655.

On May 17, 2010, Deangelo's jury trial began. 4 AA 656. On May 21, 2010, the State filed its last amended information against Deangelo. 8 AA 1587. The guilt phase concluded on May 25, 2010. The penalty phase of the trial commenced on June 2, 2010 and concluded on June 4, 2010.

C. The disposition below

On May 25, 2010, Deangelo was found guilty of conspiracy to commit murder and murder in the first-degree with use of a deadly weapon. 9 AA 2000–01.

On June 4, 2010, the jury determined "the mitigating circumstances outweigh any aggravating circumstance" and imposed a sentence of *life* in prison with the possibility of parole beginning when a minimum of 40 years has been served. 11 AA 2412.

On August 12, 2010, Deangelo was sentenced to 36 to 120 months in prison for conspiracy to commit murder (Count 1), and to *life* with the possibility of parole after 20 years, plus an equal and consecutive term of *life* with the possibility of parole after 20 years for first-degree murder with a deadly weapon (Count 2). 11 AA 2417–18. The sentences on counts 1 and 2 were run consecutively. *Id*.

IV.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Deangelo R. Carroll

1. His birth and family relationships

Virginia Carroll (Virginia) has lived in North Las Vegas, Nevada for the past 35 years. 11 AA 2254. She has eight children, and her oldest daughter is Thelma Jean Johnson (Thelma). *Id*.

Thelma gave birth to Deangelo Reshawn Carroll (Deangelo) on January 28, 1981. 11 AA 2254; see also 3 AA 507–08. But Thelma "didn't have time for him." 11 AA 2254. She was "too busy" running around with "her friends," so Virginia took care of Deangelo and raised him from the day he was born. 11 AA 2254–55. Deangelo still "[l]ong[ed] for his mother," but "every time they tr[ied] to get back together she wouldn't treat him well. She had boyfriends and they didn't treat him well" either. 11 AA 2282–83. Because of her nearly complete absence from his life, Deangelo "never really bonded with his mom and his mom really never bonded with him." 11 AA 2282.

Deangelo therefore turned to Virginia. 11 AA 2282. Virginia certainly loved Deangelo, 11 AA 2256–57, but when he was growing up

she was very busy herself, raising her own children and running a daycare center to make ends meet, so Deangelo only "got a little piece" of her attention. 11 AA 2282.

As for Deangelo's father — whoever he is — he was never a part of Deangelo's life. 11 AA 2255. This profoundly impacted Deangelo. Every time a man came to the house Deangelo "claimed them to be his dad. He wanted them to be his dad." 11 AA 2256. "He wanted a daddy so bad so he was claiming anybody." *Id*.

2. His low IQ and learning disabilities

Deangelo's IQ is 82. 11 AA 2278. He is "functional" but "four out of five people have higher IQs" than his. 11 AA 2277–78. He lacks "depth in regards to his ability to think and communicate and understand." 11 AA 2277.

According to Clark County records, Deangelo "has been labeled learning disabled for a long time." *Id.* He attended "special ed" classes in school, and yet he failed "a good number" of them and got Ds and Cs in most of the others. 11 AA 2310–12.

3. Deangelo's dependent personality disorder

As a result of the "bad things" that happened to him as a child, Deangelo suffers from post-traumatic stress disorder and a dependent personality disorder. 11 AA 2280–81.² These bad things were: his mother's rejection; her preference for her friends and boyfriends over Deangelo; the maltreatment Deangelo had from his mother and her boyfriends when all he wanted was to be with her; the limited attention and care he received from his loving but busy grandmother; and the complete lack of a relationship or even knowledge of his father. 11 AA 2254–56, 2282–83.

Plus, Deangelo was "picked on a lot," because he was in "special ed" classes and "wasn't a success" in school. 11 AA 2283, 2309. These childhood events "make their appearance in adult function." 11 AA 2281.

² Dr. Roitman explained a personality disorder this way: In order to really make a diagnosis the personality has to be pretty distorted It gets to be a disorder when it interferes with function, otherwise it's just a characteristic.

¹¹ AA 2281 (emphasis added).

People who suffer from dependent personality disorder "are *not* highly charismatic people who take the lead, are innovative, . . . are entrepreneurs, [or] can operate on their own." 11 AA 2281 (emphasis added).

They're people who like to be tucked under more like in a submissive role and so have a hard time making decisions, difficulty dealing with rejection . . . They feel insecure a lot of the time, tend to isolate unless they are given a specific set of rules to follow, and really are susceptible to a lot of misery because in the dependent role, you're not in control. Your life is — depends on who you wind up depending on.

11 AA 2281-82.

Deangelo has always sought a "father figure . . . someone to depend on." 11 AA 2282. He became a follower, but developed a "tough exterior" to cover up the painful void "on the inside." 11 AA 2283.

Because he "never really got that need fulfilled," he "never moved out of that . . . stage of development. He's continued to be dependent like a child." *Id*.

What's more, Deangelo's low IQ negatively impacts his dependent personality disorder. "IQ or intelligence is a tool . . . that can help you problem solve, figure things out, become and stay independent, be able to depend on yourself." *Id*.

So the dependent tendency, somebody who feels needy all the time, they might, with insight, work around it one way or another. But without intelligence, a high level intelligence, you can't reflect on yourself, get a sense of who you are, compensate for those tendencies. And so the IQ is another weakness that [put] Deangelo in a — in a vulnerable state.

11 AA 2283–84.

4. How Deangelo started working for the Palomino Club

In September 1999, Luis Hidalgo, Jr. (Mr. H) opened an auto repair shop on Bermuda, between Sunset and the 215, in Las Vegas, Nevada called Simone's Autoplaza. 7 AA 1416, 1418; 10 AA 2111–12. Luis Hidalgo, III (a.k.a. "Little Lou," "Little Luis," "Little Louie"³) is Mr. H's son. 7 AA 1415; 10 AA 2111. Anabel Espindola (Anabel) was Mr. H's business partner and mistress. 10 AA 2111–14. She was the manager at Simone's. 10 AA 2114. She did all the hiring and firing, and all of the paperwork. *Id*.

 $^{^{\}scriptscriptstyle 3}$ Deangelo refers to him as Little Louie. See 3 AA 593.

Sometime around 2001 or 2002, a personal friend of Mr. H's, bought the Palomino Club, a strip club, for \$13 million. 2 AA 410–13, 418–20. This friend employed Mr. H as the general manager and Anabel handled the books. 2 AA 418–20. After a year or so, the friend wanted to sell the club, and Mr. H agreed to buy it for \$13 million. 2 AA 420–24. With the sale, Mr. H moved up to owner and Anabel to general manager. 10 AA 2113–14.

Little Lou and Deangelo were friends. 10 AA 2117. Around September 2004, Deangelo started working at the Palomino club. 3 AA 508, 510. For the first three months he worked "under the table" before he was put on the official payroll. *Id.* Deangelo was only hired at the club because he was "good friends" with Little Lou. 12 AA 2576. But once he was hired, Deangelo's "been cool with Mr. H ever since." *Id.*

At the club, Deangelo did whatever was needed—drive the shuttle bus, deejay, cash out girls, sell chips, or "work the floor." 3 AA 512–13. He also did some "promoting" for the club: going out on the strip and

passing out flyers⁴ to cab drivers and "VIP passes to people." 3 AA 511–13.

Deangelo "derived his identity from the Palomino Club." 11 AA 2287. He saw in Mr. H a father figure, someone who was taking care of him, someone he could trust. 11 AA 2261. Deangelo therefore was willing to do anything they asked of him. 11 AA 2287.

B. Timothy J. Hadland's death

1. Hadland is fired from the club

In 2005, Timothy J. Hadland (TJ) worked as a doorman at the Palomino Club. 6 AA 1204, 1221; 10 AA 2114. His girlfriend was Paijit Karlson. 6 AA 1203–04. She, too, had worked at the Palomino Club as a dancer. 6 AA 1208, 1221.

TJ and Deangelo were coworkers at the Palomino Club, but they were also close friends. 3 AA 509, 519; 6 AA 1208. TJ was known for

⁴ The flyers listed the Palomino Club's payout rates. Payout rates are how much a club pays cabbies for each person they bring to the club. 7 AA 1543. The rates varied from as low as \$3 or \$4 a person to as high as \$30 or \$40 a person. 7 AA 1543–44.

always having superb marijuana and the two would often smoke it in TJ's car during work. 3 AA 532–33, 607.

While TJ and Deangelo hit it off, the same was not true of TJ and Palomino Club management. TJ talked bad about them and the club. 6 AA 1216. But that wasn't the worst of it.

Around May 11 or 12, 2005, Little Lou told Anabel that TJ was stealing from the club. 10 AA 2114–15. As cab drivers dropped off customers, the club's doorman would give drivers a ticket with the number of customers they brought. 10 AA 2115. The cabbies would then take the ticket to the cab office in the back and get paid a bounty for each admission. *Id.* But TJ was adding fictitious customers to the tickets so that the drivers were getting paid more than they were supposed to. *Id.* The drivers would then kickback some of that extra money to TJ. 10 AA 2115–16. When Anabel found out, she told the office manager Arial⁵ to fire TJ. *Id.*

About a week after he was fired, May 19, 2010, TJ and Paijit decided to go camping at Lake Mead. 6 AA 1204–05. With only them

⁵ Arial's real name is Michelle Schwanderlik. 1 AA 41.

and their three dogs, they drove out to the lake in Paijit's Kia Sportage. 6 AA 1205–06, 1218. They left to camp around 6:00 p.m. and were only going to stay overnight. 6 AA 1205, 1222.

Once at the lake, TJ got a phone call. 6 AA 1206. Paijit could only hear TJ's side of the conversation. 6 AA 1206, 1223–24. When he got off the phone, TJ told Paijit he was meeting Deangelo to get some marijuana. 6 AA 1207, 1227. After TJ left, Paijit never saw him again. 6 AA 1211.

2. TJ is found dead

Sometime after 11:30 p.m. that evening, Ishmael Madrid and two friends were driving on North Shore Road, leaving the Lake Mead national recreation area, when they saw a body lying in the middle of the street. 6 AA 1182–84. It was a white male adult. 6 AA 1185. A hat was lying on top of the body and a gold chain lying across the chin. 6 AA 1188. Near the body was a car, some advertisement cards from the Palomino Club, and capsule for a pneumatic tube. 6 AA 1188, 1190–91, 1200. At exactly 11:47 p.m., Ishmael called 911. 6 AA 1190; 8 AA 1641–42.

The body lying in the middle of street was TJ's. 7 AA 1527; 8 AA 1639. He was dead, shot twice in the head. 7 AA 1384, 1529–30. The coroner's examination found the death was homicide and revealed that TJ had .07 % alcohol in his blood and marijuana in his system. 7 AA 1538–39.

3. The investigation into TJ's death soon focuses on Deangelo

The homicide detectives that responded to the scene were Martin

Wildemann, Michael McGrath, Jimmy Vaccaro and Theresa Kyger. 7

AA 1385.

The car parked alongside the road was Paijit's Kia Sportage. 6 AA 1239. There was a cell phone in the car. 6 AA 1239–40. The cell phone was turned over to McGrath. 6 AA 1244; 8 AA 1641. McGrath examined the phone and found that the last phone call received was from Deangelo. 8 AA 1641. McGrath gave this information to Wildemann. 7 AA 1385.

Wildemann returned to the homicide office to research the number Deangelo called from. *Id.* He came up with Anabel's name and found out she worked at the Palomino Club. 7 AA 1387–88.

Meanwhile, Lake Mead park rangers told the detectives on scene about Paijit. 7 AA 1387. The detectives then contacted some of TJ's family who confirmed that TJ and Paijit were camping out. *Id*. Later that same morning, Wildemann and Kyger returned to the lake and spoke with Paijit. 6 AA; 1211–13; 7 AA 1387.

Based on the evidence at the crime scene, the phone information, the conversation with Paijit, and their investigation linking Deangelo to the Palomino Club and TJ, the detectives' investigation focused on Deangelo as a prime suspect. 1 AA 6; 7 AA 1386–88.

Because the Palomino Club is in North Las Vegas, McGrath contacted a friend with the North Las Vegas Police Department for Mr. H's contact information. 8 AA 1643. McGrath in turn gave it to Wildemann. *Id*.

When Wildemann called Mr. H, he said he was investigating "one of his employees." 7 AA 1389 (emphasis added). Wildemann asked if Mr. H would meet with him so he could "access some records." *Id.* Around 3 p.m. that afternoon, Wildemann and Kyger met Mr. H at the Palomino Club. 7 AA 1389–90. Again they told Mr. H they were investigating "a current employee" of the Palomino Club, and asked him if they could

"get some records regarding Deangelo Carroll, meaning an address or a telephone number to contact him by." 7 AA 1390 (emphasis added). Mr. H confirmed that he had an employee named Deangelo Carroll but said he didn't have access to any of the records himself. *Id.* He told the detectives to return around 7:00 p.m. that evening (May 20, 2005) and talk with Arial, the manager, who could help them. 7 AA 1391.

C. Detectives pick Deangelo up at the club

1. Detectives meet Deangelo and drive him to the homicide office McGrath and Wildemann returned to the Palomino Club that evening. 7 AA 1391–92. While they were inside, Vaccaro and Kyger watched the club outside. 7 AA 1392.

Mr. H met McGrath and Wildemann as they entered the club. *Id*. He called Arial over and she led the two detectives to a quiet employee area. *Id*.

While they were talking with Arial, Vaccaro called Wildemann's cell phone. *Id*. Wildemann left the meeting and walked out into the hallway to take the call. *Id*. Vaccaro told Wildemann someone matching

Deangelo's description had entered the club. *Id*. Just then, Mr. H walked up and introduced Deangelo. *Id*.

Wildemann told Deangelo they were investigating "a friend of his that was employed there by the name of TJ." 7 AA 1396. He told Deangelo that his call was the last TJ received and that he wanted to discuss the call and his relationship with TJ. *Id.* Wildemann asked Deangelo to "accompany" him to the homicide office so they could talk "in private." 7 AA 1394. Deangelo agreed to go with them. *Id.*

Wildemann and McGrath took Deangelo to the homicide office in their car. *Id*. On the way, the detectives were very careful about what they said because they didn't want Deangelo "to prepare" for the interview. 7 AA 1394–95.

At trial, Wildemann admitted they could have questioned

Deangelo at the Palomino Club or at Deangelo's house (it was nearby). 7

AA 1481–82. But he preferred the homicide office because it's "more intimidating." *Id*.

2. A description of the homicide office and interview room

The homicide office at that time was in an office complex on Charleston and Rainbow. 7 AA 1395. Inside the office was a very small waiting room. *Id.* To get to the interview rooms, Deangelo and the detectives had to go from the waiting room through a "small gate . . . about knee high." *Id.*

Like the waiting room, the interview room was also very small. 7

AA 1485; see also 12 AA 2578–80 (pictures of the room). Wildemann described it as a six feet by six feet room, possibly smaller. 1 AA 169.

There's only one door in and out of the room. 7 AA 1485. There's a table in the room. Id. The detectives sat Deangelo at the table with his back against the wall. Id. Between Deangelo and the door were the table, Wildemann and McGrath. 7 AA 1485. There was no phone or any other way for a witness to communicate with the outside world. 1 AA 170.

And the room was uncomfortably hot. 12 AA 2508, 2535, 2538.

Wildemann admitted that a reasonable person would feel "pretty intimidated" in that situation. 7 AA 1487.

3. The detectives surreptitiously video-record the interview

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