### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DEANGELO R. CARROLL,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Feb 04 2015 01:31 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 64757

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MARIO D. VALENCIA, ESQ. Nevada Bar #006154 1055 Whitney Ranch Dr., Ste. 220 Henderson, Nevada 89014 (702) 940-2222

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

///

///

## F. Because Defendant was not Entitled to <u>Miranda</u>, No Waiver was Necessary

Because Defendant was never entitled to Miranda warnings, the admissibility of his statements did not turn on his waiver of those rights. See id. Moreover, the arguments Defendant makes attempting to show that any waiver was not voluntary and intelligent are contrary to this Court's precedent. Defendant argues that because he has an I.Q. of 82, allegedly "cannot understand some subtleties and abstractions," and supposedly has a personality disorder, he could not have intelligently and voluntarily waived his Miranda rights. AOB at 64-69. The State would first note that these claims were never presented to the District Court in Defendant's Motion to Suppress. 3 AA 493–99. Nor did Defendant ever argue that he was incapable of waiving his rights. Id. Thus, Defendant is precluded from making this argument for the first time on appeal. State v. Cantsee, 130 Nev. \_\_\_, 321 P.3d 888, 892 (2014) ("[N]ew arguments may not be raised for the first time on appeal....") (citing Walch v. State, 112 Nev. 25, 30, 909 P.2d 1184, 1187 (1996)).

However, even ignoring Defendant's waiver of this argument, his claim is still unavailing. This Court has repeatedly rejected arguments that a below-average I.Q. renders ineffective a knowing and voluntary waiver of rights. <u>See, e.g., Young</u>, 103 Nev. at 235, 737 P.2d at 514; <u>Ogden</u>, 96 Nev. at 607 P.2d at 579–80. Additionally, Defendant's claim that his personality disorder vitiates his ability to knowingly and voluntarily waive his rights is unavailing. <u>Steese</u>, 114 Nev. at 488, 960 P.2d at 327 (finding waiver voluntary despite claimed personality disorder, drug withdrawal, lack of sleep, hunger, and a desire to please authority figures).

Even if Defendant had not waived this argument, it would be unavailing because he was not in custody, and thus not entitled to <u>Miranda</u> warnings. <u>Rosky</u>, 121 Nev. at 193, 111 P.3d at 696. As such, he was not required to execute a knowing and voluntary waiver before the statements would be admissible. <u>Id.</u>

## III THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED TAPED CONVERSATIONS BETWEEN DEFENDANT AND HIS COCONSPIRATORS

Defendant concedes, as he must, that he raised no objection at trial to the admission of the conversations between him and several of his coconspirators. AOB at 69–70. This Court reviews unpreserved allegations for plain-error. <u>Valdez v.</u> <u>State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190, 196 P.3d 465, 477 (2008). Defendant must show that the error is clear from the record, and that it affects his substantial rights such that it causes "actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Id. (quoting Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003)). To be plain error, it must be "so unmistakable" that it is readily apparent from a casual reading of the record. <u>Saletta v. State</u>, 127 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 254 P.3d 111, 114 (2011) (<u>quoting Patterson v. State</u>, 111 Nev. 1525, 1530, 907 P.2d 984, 987 (1995)). Here, not only can Defendant not show plain error, but he can show no error, given that the statements were relevant; that relevance was not greatly outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice; the

statements were admissible as coconspirator statements and statements solely giving context to admissible statements; and none of Defendant's constitutional rights were implicated by the admission.

# A. The Statements Were Relevant to Defendant's Knowledge and Intent

Defendant's claim that the statements were not relevant is disingenuous at best, given that at trial, he attempted to use the statements in the same manner as the State—that is, as proof of his knowledge that Hadland was to be killed. District courts have considerable discretion in admitting or excluding evidence. <u>Holmes v.</u> <u>State</u>, 129 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 306 P.3d 415, 418 (2013). Reversal is warranted only where the decision is "manifestly wrong." <u>Id. (quoting Archanian v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1019, 1029, 145 P.3d 1008, 1016 (2006)). To be relevant, evidence must have a tendency to make a material fact more or less likely. NRS 48.015. Relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, or misleading the jury. NRS 48.035.

Here, the relevance of the tapes was well known to both the State and Defendant. First and foremost, the statements tended to make it more or less likely that Defendant knew that the plan was to kill Hadland. <u>See, e.g.</u>, 8 AA 1730–35, 1741–45. This purpose was apparent to both parties, and indeed Defendant attempted to use the statements to prove that Defendant only knew of a plan to beat Hadland, not kill him. <u>Id.</u> at 1730–35. Thus Defendant proved the relevance of the

tapes, arguing that it made it less likely that Defendant knew of an intent to kill. <u>Id.</u>; NRS 48.015. Similarly, both the State and Defendant referenced the tapes in their respective closing arguments, highlighting the relevance of the tapes. 9 AA 1835–38, 1840–42, 1851–52, 1855–57, 1866–67, 1868. As such, the tapes could make Defendant's knowledge of the intent to kill Hadland more or less likely, making them relevant. NRS 48.015.

## B. There was no Unfair Prejudice, and Certainly not Enough to Outweigh the Probative Value

Defendant next complains that the relevance of the tapes was greatly outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice. AOB at 72. However, the jury was informed of the nature of the tapes, specific inaccuracies in Defendant's statements were brought to the jury's attention, and the tapes were used for a very specific purpose—to prove Defendant participated in the plan, knowing it called for Hadland's death.

As stated above, evidence must be relevant to be admissible. NRS 48.015. However, even relevant evidence can be excluded if its probative value is "substantially outweighed" by the risk of unfair prejudice. NRS 48.035. The concern is only with *unfair* prejudice, because "[a]ll evidence offered by the prosecutor is prejudicial to the defendant; there would be no point in offering it if it were not." <u>Holmes</u>, 129 Nev. at \_\_\_\_, 306 P.3d at 420 (<u>quoting United States v. Foster</u>, 939 F.2d 445, 456 (7th Cir. 1991)) (alteration in original). At trial, the jury was well aware of the nature of the tapes. In fact, defense highlighted for the jury the fact that the tapes were made as part of the ongoing investigation. 8 AA 1726. The jury heard that Defendant offered to wear a wire, and that the information he collected was useful to the police. <u>Id.</u> at 1735–36.

Moreover, the jury was made well aware that Defendant was tailoring his statements in order to produce incriminating statements. Specifically, the jury heard that Defendant was attempting to elicit incriminating statements from Hidalgo, Louis, and Espinolda. <u>Id.</u> at 1729, 1738. Further, the jury heard that Defendant discussed strategy with the detectives, though he was not given a script. <u>Id.</u> at 1738–39. The jury heard that detectives suggested to Defendant that he talk about getting more money to keep other coconspirators quiet. <u>Id.</u> at 1739–40. Similarly, the jury was specifically informed that Counts was in jail at the time that the statements were made, and as such, the threats Defendant relayed were part of the plan to produce incriminating statements. <u>Id.</u> Thus, the statements were not, as Defendant suggests, "an unmapped mix of truth and falsity." AOB at 73. Rather, the jury was fully informed of the nature of the statements, and specific fabrications were identified.

Defendant first claims that the admission of these statements could lead the jury to convict him on improper grounds. <u>Id.</u> However, as explained above, defense did explain to the jury what parts of the statements were fabrications, and Defendant's purpose in making his claims. 8 AA 1726, 1729, 1735–40. Moreover,

although the statements may have included exaggerations, this does not prevent the jury from considering the evidence. <u>Holmes</u>, 129 Nev. at \_\_\_\_, 306 P.3d at 418–19 (allowing the use of "gangster rap" lyrics, despite the fact that they may involve metaphor, exaggeration, and other artistic devices). Similarly, the recordings were introduced and argued as evidence of his knowledge, with no references to other bad acts. 8 AA 1730–35, 1741–45; 9 AA 1835–38, 1840–42, 1851–52. <u>See Holmes</u>, 129 Nev. at \_\_\_\_, 306 P.3d at 418 (finding that the risk of unfair prejudice as a result of bad acts alluded to in "gangster rap" did not substantially outweigh the probative value where the factual recitation in the rap was similar to the facts of the crime).

Nor did the admission of the statements run the risk of confusing the issues before the jury. Despite Defendant's contention, the jury heard testimony outlining what within the statements were lies. 8 AA 1729, 1739–40. Moreover, both the State and defense were explicit in how the statements were used, arguing that the statements either proved or disproved Defendant's knowledge of the plan to kill Hadland. 9 AA 1835–38, 1840–42, 1851–52, 1855–57, 1866–67, 1868.

Defendant's reliance on <u>Fields v. State</u>, 129 Nev. 776, 220 P.3d 724 (2009), is misplaced. In <u>Fields</u>, the State not only introduced evidence of an entirely distinct conspiracy, but it "spent considerable time" on that evidence, and explaining every aspect of a related civil suit. <u>Id.</u> at 784, 220 P.3d at 729. This Court held that the evidence should not have been admitted, because the conspiracies were not related;

the jury could have been confused by the State's attempt to explain the differences in the civil and criminal proceedings with the accompanying changes in standards of proof; and because the defendant was never charged with conspiracy to murder, "significantly increasing the possibility of unfair prejudice and jury confusion. . . ." <u>Id.</u> Here, however, neither the State nor Defense referenced the later conspiracies to kill other coconspirators save as necessary to argue whether Defendant knew the plan was to kill Hadland. 9 AA 1835–38, 1840–42, 1851–52, 1855–57, 1866–67, 1868. Moreover, there was no evidence from civil actions to confuse the jury, and the conspiracies here are directly related to the conspiracy for which Defendant was on trial. <u>Compare with Fields</u>, 129 Nev. at 784, 220 P.3d at 729. Thus, Defendant failed to show an error so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual reading of the record. <u>Saletta</u>, 127 Nev. at \_ ,254 P.3d at 114.

## C. The Statements Were Not Inadmissible Hearsay, Because Defendant's Statements Were Introduced Solely to Give Context, and the Others' Statements Were Statements by Coconspirators

Out of court statements may be admitted if they are not hearsay, or if they fit within a hearsay exception. <u>See generally</u> NRS 51.025–51.065. Here, Defendant's taped statements fall within one of the hearsay exceptions – namely that they were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. NRS 51.035. As shown above, neither State nor defense argued that Defendant's statements were true, in fact, both

explained that his statements were instead designed to produce inculpatory statements. See Part III(A–B), supra.

Here, Defendant's statements were not offered for the trust of the assertions, but rather to give context to the responses, the statements of his coconspirators. In Wade v. State, 114 Nev. 914, 966 P.2d 160 (1994), modified upon rehearing Wade v. State, 115 Nev. 290, 986 P.2d 438 (1995), this Court held that statements made on tape, which were offered for the limited purpose of giving context to the responses and statements of others, fell under a hearsay exception. Id. at 917-18, 966 P.2d at 162-63. Further, upon rehearing, this Court noted that such statements are admissible even absent a limiting instruction outlining the purpose for which they are admitted. Wade, 115 Nev. at 293, 986 P.2d at 439–40. As such, Defendant's statements in this case were admissible. See, Wade, 114 Nev. at 917–18, 966 P.2d at 162-63; Wade, 115 Nev. at 293, 986 P.2d at 439-40; see also United States v. Valerio, 441 F.3d 837, 844 (9th Cir. 2006); United States v. Tangeman, 30 F.3d 950 (8th Cir. 1994).

The statements on the tapes made by Hidalgo, Louis, and Espinolda are also admissible, as statements by coconspirators. NRS 51.035(3)(e). "[T]he duration of a conspiracy is not limited to the commission of the principal crime, but extends to affirmative acts of concealment." <u>Crew v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 38, 46, 675 P.2d 986, 991 (1984); <u>Foss v. State</u>, 92 Nev. 163, 167, 547 P.2d 688, 691 (1976). Coconspirator

statements can also encompass statements used to "induce further participation, prompt further action, reassure members, allay concerns or fears, keep conspirators abreast of ongoing activities, [or] avoid detection. . . ." <u>Holmes</u>, 129 Nev. at \_\_\_\_, 306 P.3d at 422 (<u>quoting</u> 30B MICHAEL H. GRAHAM, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 7025, at 289 (interim ed. 2011)) (alteration in original).

"The admissibility of testimony under the coconspirator exception is not predicated upon a conspiracy charge against the defendant." <u>Carr v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 238, 239, 607 P.2d 114, 116 (1980) (<u>citing Cranford v. State</u>, 95 Nev. 471, 596 P.2d 489 (1979)). Similarly, it does not matter whether the individual relating the statements of the coconspirators was part of the conspiracy, so long as the statements related were made by conspirators. <u>Fish v. State</u>, 92 Nev. 272, 275–76, 549 P.2d 338, 340–41 (1976).

Here, the statements were made in the furtherance of the conspiracy, given that they were made to bring Hidalgo, Louis, and Espinolda up to speed with the events, and to avoid detection. <u>See generally</u>, 12 AA 2442–62. As such, they were admissible. <u>Crew</u>, 100 Nev. at 46, 675 P.2d at 991; <u>Foss</u>, 92 Nev. at 167, 547 P.2d at 691.

Finally, Defense used the statements as part of the argument that Defendant did not know that Hadland was to be killed. 9 AA 1866–68. Thus, he is estopped from arguing on appeal that the statements were inadmissible. <u>Carter v. State</u>, 121

Nev. 759, 769, 121 P.3d 592, 599 (2005) ("A party who participates in an alleged error is estopped from raising any objection on appeal.").

#### D. None of Defendant's Constitutional Rights Were Implicated

As noted above, and conceded by Defendant, he chose not to object to the admission of these tapes. AOB at 78. As such, this Court reviews only for plain error. Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477. This requires Defendant to show an error that is readily apparent from a casual reading of the record, sufficient to cause a fundamental miscarriage of justice. Saletta, 127 Nev. at , 254 P.3d at 114. In the context of claims of constitutional violations due to admission of evidence, only where "there are *no* permissible inferences the jury may draw from the evidence can its admission violate due process. Even then, the evidence must 'be of such quality as necessarily prevents a fair trial." Jamal v. Van de Kamp, 926 F.2d 918, 920 (1991) (quoting Kealohapauole v. Shimoda, 800 F.2d 1463, 1465 (9th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1068, 107 S. Ct. 958 (1987)) (emphasis in original). To warrant relief, the admission of evidence must fatally affect the process, rendering it so fundamentally unfair that it works a denial of due process. Kealohapauole, 800 F.2d at 1465; McNelton v. State, 111 Nev. 900, 906, 900 P.2d 934, 938 (1995).

///

///

#### i. The Evidence was Not Fundamentally Unfair

The State would first note that Defendant provides only one citation in this section, and as such this Court should decline to consider this claim. <u>See Maresca v.</u> <u>State</u>, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) (noting that the Nevada Supreme Court should decline to consider claims not supported by relevant legal citations). The only citation Defendant provides is itself unrelated to this case, arising not from the introduction of a coconspirator's statement, but rather from a coerced confession. <u>See Lisenba v. California</u>, 314 U.S. 219, 236–37, 62 S. Ct. 280, 289–90 (1941).

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